IN SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CHRISTOPHER OFFORD,

Appellant,

v.

Case No. **SC05-1611**

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

_/

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FOURTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR **BAY** COUNTY, FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

NANCY A. DANIELS PUBLIC DEFENDER

NADA M. CAREY ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER FLORIDA BAR NUMBER 0648825 LEON COUNTY COURTHOUSE SUITE 401 301 SOUTH MONROE STREET TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32301 (850) 606-8500

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF FACTS

In February 2004, Christopher Offord, age 29, moved to Panama City, Florida, from Texas, where he had lived most of his life in institutions. Two weeks after he arrived in Florida, Offord was admitted to the psychiatric unit at Bay Behavioral Health Center in Panama City because he was having auditory hallucinations. Offord was diagnosed with Acute Paranoid Schizophrenia and placed on anti-psychotic medication. I 84.

After he left the hospital, Offord met David and Lisa Leasher at the Value Motel and lived with them for several months. V 44. In April, Offord met Dana Noser (**A**Suzy@⁵) at a bar. Four days later, they got married and Offord moved in with Suzy. VI 128, 151, I 50, 57. In June, Offord and Suzy separated. The parting was amicable, and they continued to see each other daily. VI 152.

On July 4, 2004, Offord was again admitted to Bay Behavioral. This was his fourth admission since arriving in Florida. Offord was suicidal and had been using drugs and alcohol. He was diagnosed with Schizophrenia, Alcohol Dependence, and Cocaine Dependence and placed on antipsychotic medication. Offord left the hospital on July 7 against medical advice. I 84, 100.

ĭ3ĭ

 $^5\,$ Dana Noser also went by the name $\ensuremath{\mathtt{A}}\xspace{\text{Suzy}}.\ensuremath{\text{e}}\xspace$

On July 31, Noser took Offord to his job washing dishes at Granny=s Kitchen. She picked him up at 11 p.m., dropped him off at his apartment, and went bar hopping. She returned around 3 a.m. and woke Offord up. They went to Joe=s Corner Pub, where Offord drank a few beers and shot pool. VI 134-135. According to a waitress, they seemed to be getting along, and Offord did not appear intoxicated. V 32-35.

Around 4 a.m., Offord and Noser went to the Waffle House. According to several Waffle House employees, who knew the couple from previous visits, Offord and Noser were extremely affectionate, holding hands, kissing, and staring into each other=s eyes. V 37-39, 42, 84-86.

At 7 a.m. the next day, Offord showed up at the Leashers= motel room, saying he had finally killed Suzy, had hit her with a hammer, stabbed her, and broke her knees. V 47-48, 53.

David Leasher testified Offord lived with him and his wife about two months, until he married Suzy. David got Offord a job and drove him to work the three weeks Offord worked there. David and Lisa knew Offord had mental problems and was supposed to be taking medication but never saw him take it. V 44-46, 55. Offord and Suzy seemed fine together. They moved apart because they began to annoy each other. Both wanted to be apart. V 47. Both David and Lisa had heard Chris say he was going to kill Suzy. This was three months

5۲

after they got married, between the middle and end of July. V 47, 50, 55-56, 58.

Twelve hours later after Offord told the Leashers what he had done, around 6:45 p.m., Offord walked into J Krash-s Bar and told the bartender, Arthur Sencil. Sencil called the police, and Offord was arrested and taken to the police station.

Sencil, who knew Offord as a customer, testified Offord was emotionally distraught when he walked in the door. He sat Chris down, and Chris said, AI killed her.@ Sencil asked, Akilled who,@ and Chris responded, Amy ex-wife,@ then said, AI hit her in the head with a hammer, I think I broke her neck.@ Sencil asked Bill Yohe, a part-time security employee, to watch Chris while he called the police. After calling 911, Sencil got pen and paper and asked Chris what happened. Chris said he and Suzy went to Joe= Pub around 2:30 a.m., to the Waffle House around 4:30, then home. Suzy wanted to have sex, he didn=t, and they argued. He taped her mouth, hit her on the head with a hammer, and stabbed her with a kitchen knife. When asked what he had been doing since then, he said, AI didn=t know what to do, I cleaned up, I went to sleep,

Ğ

⁶ Offord and Noser were still married at the time. When Offord was served with the divorce papers, he understood that to mean he was divorced. III 190.

showered, came here. I was looking for you because I knew you would know what to do.@ V 60-64.

While Sencil was calling 911, Yohe asked Chris if he was okay, and Chris said no, he just killed his wife. Yohe didn=t believe him and asked how he killed her. Chris said he broke her neck and broke her knees, beat her with a hammer and stabbed her with a knife. She wanted to have sex and he didn=t, and he got angry. He couldn=t take it anymore and just hit her with a hammer. V 75-77.

At the police station, Detective Joe Cherry confronted Offord with his previous admissions to Sencil and Yohe, advised him of his constitutional rights, then conducted a videotaped interrogation. VI 129-130.

Offord told Detective Cherry, **A**I need help. I need help, ethen, **A**I ran out of medicine and I am schizophrenic and I just lost it. And after I did it I just left the house. I just lost it. I kept trying to wake her up. VI 123-124. He asked if they had found her and said he was sorry. Crying, he said, **A**I didn=t mean to do it. I was hearing voices and going in my head and I just kept hitting her, just kept hitting her, and hitting her. VI 127. He said he and Dana had been three months and divorced two weeks. VI 128. When asked if he was working, he said no, **A**I want to work to pay my bills but I really can=t because I can=t concentrate and I hallucinate, you

~₇~

know, how I lost jobs because of that. I can=t, I can=t blend in, I guess. Dr. Winner (ph) at Bay Behavioral told me, he suggested that I go to Chattahoochee three weeks ago and I told him I didn=t want to because I guess he saw something, my behavior, or what. When I was in Bay Behavioral, Suzy called like 30 times every day.@ He said she kept calling him and was **A**on my nerves all the time,@ that **A**[s]he=s one of those people that never shuts up. She will talk and repeat herself over and over.@ VI 129.

Offord said he had been to the police station before, and a police officer had taken him to Bay Behavioral. He walked to the station because he didn=t know where the hospital was and he was thinking about **A**opening up@ the wound he had from a previous suicide attempt. VI 131.

He said he didn=t want to kill her. **A**I kept shaking her trying to wake her up but her face was so bashed in. They got home that night, and she wanted to have sex, so they had sex, and **A**then out of nowhere I just said, my head just went blank and I said I am going to kill her. VI 132-133. He had the duct tape in his shorts and she kept begging him to lay down, **A**and she said it like ten times and finally I just said, you need to shut up, you know, you need to be quiet, and I=11 lay down when I=m ready to lay down, you know. And I don=t remember what the last thing she said, and then I just grabbed the tape and wrapped it and just started stabbing her. VI 133.

~9~

Before that, everything was okay. Suzy had picked him up from work at Granny=s about 10:30, dropped him off, and said she

was going home. He went to bed. Around 3 a.m., she came and woke him up. He had given her a key in case she needed something. He was upset because she woke him up, so they went to Joe=s Corner Pub together, where Offord had a few beers. Suzy was Apretty toasted@ already, could hardly walk. Then they went to the Waffle House for breakfast. Everything was going fine. VI 134-136.

They went back to Offord=s apartment and had sex. He got up and took a shower. Everything was still fine. Then Ashe started demanding she wanted more and got real loud and I got angry.@ She was saying, Ayou can=t hang, you are a sorry ass MF-er and all this stuff, and so my temper roused up, and so what I did is I went in the front room and tried to compose myself and then that s when I started hearing voices to kill her.@ VI 137. He went to the kitchen and got a knife and duct tape. He hid the knife in his shorts and cut off a piece of tape, which he taped to his shorts. He walked back into the bedroom and sat on the bed next to her. She kept demanding he lay down with her and saying derogatory things. He got angry and placed the tape over her mouth and muffled her with the pillow and began stabbing her with the knife. When the knife bent, he grabbed a hammer that was lying on the bedside table and struck her repeatedly. VI 138-139, 148-

ĭllĭ

151, 154. She was grabbing at him and saying she would do anything for him and trying to wrestle with him. He saw the hammer on the other side of the bed and started digging her face with it. She was telling him to stop. He started hitting her knees and stomach and thighs and **A**I guess I hit her neck with the hammer so hard, it just snapped, snapped her neck.@ VI 154. He wrapped her up in a blanket several hours later. He was hitting her in the legs and knees **A**[b]ecause I was going to cut up her body.@ VI 155.

He watched TV after, took a shower, and looked for his wallet for several hours. VI 143. He drank a bottle of whiskey and sat next to her, trying to wake her up. After he realized she wasn=t going to wake up, he started hitting her again. AEvery time I looked at her I kept hitting her with the hammer.@ VI 144-145.

He went to David and Lisa=s room at Value Lodge at 8 a.m. to **A**find out what to do,@ but **A**they didn=t believe me.@ VI 156. Then he drove to Suzy=s house to look for his wallet. He needed his wallet because he was on disability for Schizophrenia. He went home and took 20 Xanax, trying to kill himself. **A**I drank it with whiskey. I thought about either taking Xanax or re-cutting that (pointing to an old injury) and just bleeding to death because I figured since Suzy died,

ĭ12ĭ

I might as well die, too.@ He thought the Xanax would do it. AI just want to die, I don=t, I can=t live with this.@ VI 160.

He and Suzy still saw each other every day, had sex, and she drove him everywhere he needed to go. When asked Ahow does that make you feel [that she is dead]?,@he said, AI don=t understand. I don t believe I did it, I never killed anybody in my life.@ VI 153. When asked A[h]ow did it make you feel when you were doing this?,@he said, AI never felt like it before, I can=t--I never had that kind of rage before.@ VI 157. Suzy had Baker-acted him twice trying to help him. Het had thoughts of killing people before, including Suzy. He Ahad thoughts of killing her and chopping her up and putting her on the grill.@ The past couple of weeks, the thoughts had been there all the time, even when he wasn=t around her. VI 157-158. He told Suzy he had thoughts of just killing people, just randomly, going down the street and killing people. He told her about his suicidal thoughts, too, and Ataking all my Haldol.@ VI 159.

When asked how he thought he would feel tomorrow, Offord said, **A**probably kill myself. VI 160. He said, **A**I just want to die, I don=t, I can=t live with this. VI 161. He told Cherry **A**something was telling me to kill her, and **A**[t]hat=s what confuses me, everything was fine. VI 168. **A**It was me, just like I was somebody else. VI 170.

ĭ14ĭ

After the first videotaped interview, Detective Cherry conducted a second interview, asking all the same questions. When asked what led to killing his wife, Offord said, **A**voices were telling me to kill her.@ When asked what the voices were telling him to do, he said, **A**Made sure of me putting her to death.@ VII 180. He repeated that he muffled her with the pillow, then Astabbed her in the forehead, her face, and the chest,@ then hit her with the hammer. VII 185. He tried to find his wallet, wrapped her in a blanket, went to the Leashers and told them what he had done, went home, watched some TV, took about 20 Xanax with some whiskey, slept four or five hours, woke up, found his wallet, and went to J Krash-s. VII 186. He moved the mattress to cover her up Aso no one would see her.@ VII 187. When asked if he had anything to add, he said, AI have had a lot of mental issues. I am on Social Security disability. I believe that if those voices would not have been telling me to do that, I don=t believe I would have done it because if I was trying to, I felt like if I had done it deliberately, I wouldn=t have, you know, turned myself in like that.@ VII 193. He said every time he had thought about killing her before, it was because of the voices. When asked if he knew killing somebody was wrong, he said, **A**I wasn=t thinking clearly about that when I did it. Т didn=t realize it was wrong until after I had done it.@ He wasn=t thinking about it, AI just, it was like it was me that did it but it was like, in my mind, it was like, it was just r[acing], I just, just lost it completely.@ VII 194-195.

ĭ16ĭ

Detective Cherry testified the details of Offords confession fit the physical evidence at the scene. VII 196. The victims body was wrapped in a blanket in the bedroom. A hammer was on the floor, blood spatter on the carpet and walls. A bent kitchen knife and several of the victims teeth were underneath the body. Two mattresses with blood stains were leaning against the wall near the front door, consistent with a void area in the bedroom where a bed appeared to have been removed. The roll of duct tape was on a table in the bedroom. The blood-stained boxers were in the bathroom. VI 88-111.

Dr. Charles Siebert, the medical examiner, testified the cause of death was blunt head trauma. The victim had sustained multiple blunt and sharp injuries to the head, as well as extremities. She had a superficial stab wound to the chest. Wounds to the face and head could have been caused by the knife or the hammer. She sustained a minimum of thirty blows to the face and twenty-four hammer blows to her knees around the time of death. The knee injuries were unusual because they were to the inner portion of the knee and did not break the knee cap or other bones. Dr. Siebert said the victim would have experienced a high degree of pain while conscious but could have been unconscious by the third or

ĭ18ĭ

fourth blow. She was intoxicated by driving standards, which may have reduced the pain. VII 200-221.

Dr. Jill Rowan, a clinical psychologist, and Nancy Watson, a Licensed Clinical Social Worker, testified for the defense. Dr. Rowan testified about Offord-s history of mental illness and psychiatric hospitalizations based on a review of his Texas and Florida psychiatric records.⁷⁸ VII 227. Watson contributed additional details about Offord-s family background, gathered from Offord, his mother, and the medical records. VII 250.

Offord was born in Denton, Texas, on July 14, 1975, to Pam and Donnie Offord. He lived with his parents until he was about 5. At that time, they divorced, and he went to live with his biological father for a time. There were allegations his father, an alcoholic, raped and physically abused him, and he was brought back to live with his mother and stepfather. VII 250.

 $^{^7}$ A written summary of the psychiatric records was admitted into evidence. The records themselves, comprising several hundred pages, were never introduced, so are not in evidence.

 $^{^{\}rm 8}$ Dr. Rowan=s summary of the psychiatric records is attached as Appendix C

At eight months old, his behavior changed. He had an allergic reaction to Penicillin and his heart stopped. His grandmother, an RN, performed CPR, and he survived. According to his mother, he was an easy-going child until that occurred.

After that, he became easily agitated, he became overactive, he demanded attention, he had poor impulse control. He never got along with other children and was teased and rejected by other children. At age 5, he began pulling the skin off his fingernails. At age 6, he chased her with a butcher knife and threatened to kill her. VII 250-251.

Offord was placed in a mental hospital for the first time when he was 6 years old. VII 251. He spent 10 months at Hillside, a treatment facility in Dallas County. I 78. The following year, from 1982 to 1983, he was at Saint Theresa=s Children=s Home in Fort Worth, Texas. In 1984 and 1985, he was hospitalized twice at Terrell State Hospital. He was hospitalized at Terrell again in 1986, after which he was transferred to North Texas State Hospital-Wichita Falls Campus. He was now 10 years old. VII 232, 81.

At age 11, he was placed in the Texas Youth Center because he started a fire at school. I 78. When he was 13, he started heavy drug use. By 14, he was hearing voices. At 17, he was drinking very heavily, so had alcohol and substance abuse problems, along with mental illness. VII 252.

~21~

At age 18, he was admitted again to Wichita Falls State Hospital, having been transferred there from the county jail. He was diagnosed with Impulse Control Disorder, Polysubstance Dependence (marijuana, cocaine, and speed), Alcohol Abuse, and Antisocial Personality Disorder. He was placed on Lithium. VII 232, I 78.

In December 1994, at age 19, Offord was committed to Vernon State Hospital after being found incompetent to stand trial on charges of armed robbery. He was diagnosed with Bipolar Disorder, Polysubstance Dependence, and Personality Disorder, NOS. He was given Prolixin, an anti-psychotic. VII 232.

Offord eventually was found competent and sentenced to six years in prison. In March 1999, while in prison, he was sent to the psychiatric unit because he was having urges to cut himself. He was diagnosed with Schizoaffective Disorder, Bipolar Type, Polysubstance Abuse, Antisocial Personality Disorder, and Borderline Personality Disorder. I 79.

In September 2000, one month after his release from prison, Offord was evaluated for Social Security Disability and was diagnosed with Schizoaffective Disorder, a combination of Schizophrenia and Mood Disorder; Post Traumatic Stress Disorder; Alcohol Abuse, in remission, and Borderline

ĭ22ĭ

Personality Disorder. Offord was now 24 years old. VII 232-233, I 79.

In October 2000, he was admitted to Wichita Falls State Hospital because he was experiencing command hallucinations telling him to harm himself. He was prescribed an antipsychotic, Zyprexa, and Lithium, for mood stabilization. VII 233, I 80.

In 2001, Offord was admitted to Wichita Falls Hospital three more times. In January 2001, he was admitted for auditory hallucinations. He was diagnosed with Paranoid Schizophrenia, Polysubstance Dependence, Antisocial Personality Disorder, and Borderline Personality Disorder. He was admitted again in May. The May report said he probably had entered a psychotic state because he had discontinued his prescribed medications and started using street drugs. That became a pattern: he would go to a hospital, get stable, no more voices, not suicidal, not hurting himself, then he would leave the hospital, stop taking the anti-psychotic medication, start using cocaine or marijuana or alcohol, and be readmitted. VII 233.

Dr. Rowan said it was difficult to pinpoint when Offord became mentally ill or why. According to the May 2001 report, he most likely had a biogenetic predisposition to psychiatric illness. As a child and teenager, he never had a stable home to go back to, so would regress after leaving a facility. The August 2001 report stated Offord prognosis was poor and he was considered Ainstitutionalized, meaning they did not believe he could function independently outside a facility or hospital. VII 234. Despite this, they did not keep him in the hospital because the law requires a person be moved to a less restrictive setting once they are stable. VII 235.

ĭ24ĭ

Dr. Rowan testified Offord had two dozen additional psychiatric admissions after the 2002 report noting he was institutionalized. VII 239. On January 4, 2002, he was admitted to North Texas State Hospital for the sixth time, after living in a group home for a time. On January 12, he was admitted to the All Saints Chemical Dependency Unit, and on January 30, he was admitted to Trinity Springs for three days. He was admitted to psychiatric units again in March, April, June, July (twice), August, September, and November of 2003. The March admission was because he overdosed on Lithium and Haldol. The other admissions were because of homicidal and/or suicidal ideation or because he had stopped taking his medications and was instead using street drugs, including speed, marijuana, cocaine, and alcohol. Between admissions, Offord was monitored by a treatment team from Texas Mental Health and Mental Retardation. VII 81-84.

Two weeks after Offord arrived in Florida, on February 27, 2004, he was admitted to the psychiatric unit at Bay Medical Behavioral Health Center in Panama City because of auditory hallucinations. He was diagnosed with Paranoid Schizophrenia, Acute Exacerbation. He was admitted again in March, April, and July. In March, he was admitted because he was having suicidal thoughts. He had been drinking 18-20 beers a day, plus rum, vodka, or any other liquor he could

č25č

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