IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CHRISTOPHER OFFORD,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. SC05-1611

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FOURTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR BAY COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF

CHARLES J. CHRIST, JR. ATTORNEY GENERAL

RONALD A. LATHAN, JR.
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
FLORIDA BAR NO. 0018477
OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY

GENERAL

THE CAPITOL
TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050
(850) 414-3300
COUNSEL FOR THE STATE

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The single issue presented is whether Offord's death sentence is proportional. The circumstances set forth in this case demonstrate that Offord's sentence is entirely appropriate. As has often been observed, because of the finality of the punishment, an individual may only be sentenced to death in the

most aggravated and least mitigated circumstances.

In the instant case, Noser suffered a prolonged and tortuous death in which she was struck with over fifty blows from a claw hammer, and was repeatedly stabbed, punched, and kicked with violent force. Medical expert testimony was presented suggesting Noser lived between fifteen and twenty minutes during the attack before she died. Thus, notwithstanding Offord's mental health issues, they do not legitimate the heinous murder of Noser - especially given the relatively benign circumstances precipitating her death. Similarly the record evidences the fact that Offord was cognizant of the wrongfulness of his conduct as it was occurring.

Moreover, this Court has never set forth an absolute prohibition against sentencing an individual to death who has had a long history of mental health issues — especially with a crime as gruesome as this. A determination regarding whether an individual should be sentenced to death is a nuanced inquiry focusing on, among other things, the totality of circumstances presented, the egregiousness of the crime, the existence of applicable aggravators and mitigators, whether the accused was cognizant of the wrongfulness of his actions as they were taking place, and whether a death sentence has been imposed in similar

contexts.

Based on a review of applicable case law, the record in this matter is clear, Offord's gruesome murder of Noser qualifies as amongst the most aggravated and least mitigated; therefore imposition of a death sentence -- irrespective of his particular mental health issues -- was proportionate and entirely warranted.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The trial court found one aggravating factor in its determination that Offord should be sentenced to death; the murder of Noser was Heinous, Atrocious, and Cruel (HAC). The lone issue on appeal is whether Offord's death sentence is proportional. This Court approaches the question of a death sentence's proportionality by thoughtfully and deliberately analyzing the totality of circumstances presented and comparing them with similar capital cases to determine whether the death penalty has been imposed in like contexts. Johnston v. State, 863 So. 2d 271, 286 (Fla. 2003) (citation omitted).

⁷ The terms incorporating the HAC aggravator, Heinous, Atrocious, and Cruel, are terms of art, wherein "heinous means extremely wicked or shockingly evil; that atrocious means outrageously wicked and vile; and that cruel means designed to inflict a high degree of pain with utter indifference to, or even enjoyment of, the suffering of others." State v. Dixon,

Similarly, this Court accords deference to the trial court's findings regarding the applicability of an aggravator - provided the findings are supported by the record. See., e.g., Reynolds v. State, 2006 Fla. LEXIS 888, at *73 (Fla. May 18, 2006). This Court does not simply compare the aggregate total of aggravators and mitigators to determine the appropriateness of a death sentence. See Terry v. State, 668 So. 2d 954, 965 (Fla. 1996); accord Lynch v. State, 841 So. 2d 362, 377 (Fla. 2003). To the contrary, this Court assesses whether the trial court correctly applied the relevant law governing the aggravator, and, whether the trial court's findings as to the particular aggravator were supported by competent substantial evidence. See Alston v. State, 723 So. 2d 148, 160 (Fla. 1998).

ARGUMENT

- I. SENTENCING OFFORD TO DEATH IS PROPORTIONATE PUNISHMENT FOR HIS CRIME AS IT IS AMONGST THE MOST AGGRAVATED AND LEAST MITIGATED
- A. The HAC Aggravator -- the only statutory aggravator found by the trial court -- provides ample grounds for trial court's sentencing determination

Offord raises a single assertion in opposition to the trial court's determination that he should be sentenced to death. He

²⁸³ So. 2d 1, 9 (Fla. 1973).

contends that in light of the evidence presented -specifically, his history of mental illness -- sentencing him to
death is not a proportionate sentence for his crime. Of
course, Offord's argument disregards Florida case law, his
concessions made during the *Spencer* hearing, the actual findings
of the trial court, as well as the competent substantial
evidence supporting those findings.

Before delving too deeply into the question of whether Offord's death sentence was proportional, the basis for his sentence must be better understood. Such understanding is important because the trial court's determination that the HAC aggravator outweighed Offord's mental mitigation evidence provided the necessary basis for his death sentence.

This Court has stated the HAC aggravator is applicable to those murders where the victim is tortured, *i.e.*, wherein the perpetrator's actions were so wanton, remorseless, and egregious as to exemplify a seeming "desire to inflict a high degree of pain or utter indifference to or enjoyment of the suffering of another." Guzman v. State, 721 So. 2d 1155, 1159 (Fla. 1998)(citation omitted). Moreover, this Court has also recognized that in order to apply the HAC aggravator, the victim must be cognizant of her imminent death. Way v. State, 760 So.

2d 903, 919 (Fla. 2000); see also Swafford v. State, 533 So. 2d 270, 277 (Fla. 1988) (observing that the applicability of the HAC aggravator must be assessed from the victim's vantage point "in accordance with a common-sense inference from the circumstances"). Plainly stated, "the HAC aggravator focuses on the means and manner in which death is inflicted and the immediate circumstances surrounding the death." Brown v. State, 721 So. 2d 274, 277 (Fla. 1998).

The primary instrument Offord used to kill Noser was a claw hammer. According to the medical examiner's autopsy, Noser may have been hit with the hammer some sixty times. Moreover, Offord readily acknowledged that he attempted to brutalize Noser; and it was further estimated by Dr. Siebert that Noser may have lived as long as twenty minutes during the attack. See Francis v. State, 808 So. 2d 110, 134 (Fla. 2001) (crediting a medical expert's estimation as to how long the victim lived).

Similarly, this Court has noted where evidence is presented indicating the victim was beaten to death, this establishes a prima facie case for the HAC aggravator. See, e.g., Buzia v. State, 926 So. 2d 1203, 1212 (Fla. 2006) (collecting cases); see also England v. State, 2006 Fla. LEXIS 942, at * 31 (Fla. May 25, 2006). And given the fact the HAC aggravator may be

applicable in instances where the victim is conscious for only a matter of seconds, Rolling v. State, 695 So. 2d 278, 296 (Fla. 1997), the fact that Noser lived for as long as fifteen to twenty minutes certainly supports, beyond a reasonable doubt, the appropriateness of this aggravator. See Allan v. State, 662 So. 2d 323, 331 (Fla. 1995) (finding the fact the victim may have lived between fifteen to thirty minutes after being attacked supported the HAC aggravator beyond a reasonable doubt).

The facts of this case further support the application of the HAC aggravator because Noser was cognizant Offord intended to kill her. See Owen v. State, 862 So. 2d 687, 698 (Fla. 2003)(crediting the trial court's finding that the HAC aggravator was appropriate based on the fact that the victim was aware that she was going to die and was placed in great fear). The record reflects Noser repeatedly begged for her life when she was being attacked; in fact, Offord recalled Noser telling him that she loved him and would do anything for him if we would

⁸ While not suggesting the fact that Noser begged for her life is dispositive in this Court's determination as to the appropriateness of the HAC aggravator, see Bonifay v. State, 626 So. 2d 1310, 1313 (Fla. 1993), because Noser endured a prolonged and torturous death, this strongly evidences the appropriateness of this aggravator. See Ochoa v. State, 826 So. 2d 956, 963-64

simply stop.

The common-sense inference one draws from the record is that Noser recognized she faced imminent death if she did not find a means to thwart Offord's unremitting violence. She attempted to appeal to the fact that at some point they shared a loving relationship. Unmoved, Offord denigrated her pleas and continued to furiously hit her. Moreover, when Noser's lifeless body appeared to be gasping for its last breaths, Offord again repeatedly hit her with a hammer and kicked her.

Finally, the trial court correctly found the HAC aggravator was applicable given, among other reasons, the ferocity with which Noser was murdered. See, e.g., Butler v. State, 842 So. 2d 817, 834 (Fla. 2003) (acknowledging that the brutality with which the victim was murdered was a factor in its determination that Butler's death sentence was appropriate and proportional). Accordingly, the trial court's determination that the HAC aggravator outweighed all mitigating evidence, including Offord's long mental health history, was correct and should be affirmed by this Court.

B. Offord's Death Sentence is fully consonant with Florida case law and is therefore proportional

⁽Fla. 2002).

This Court has often acknowledged proportionality review is a necessary element in Florida's capital litigation jurisprudence so as to insure the death penalty is imposed only in the most aggravated and least mitigated circumstances. See Kramer v. State, 619 So. 2d 274, 278 (Fla. 1993); see also Fla. Const. Art I, § 17. Therefore, any analysis regarding the propriety of the imposition of the death penalty in a particular case entails review of similar cases to insure the death penalty has, or has not, been imposed in like contexts. See Schoenwetter v. State, 2006 Fla. LEXIS 668, at *45 (Fla. April 27, 2006); Stewart v. State, 872 So. 2d 226, 229 (Fla. 2003).

Offord relies on several cases which he asserts stand for the irreducible proposition that in capital cases when mental mitigation evidence presents itself - i.e., a long history of mental health issues - a death sentence must be reduced to life imprisonment. See Initial Brief of Appellant, at p. 27-28. Offord misstates the effect a defendant's history of mental illness has in capital cases, as this evidence relates only as potentially mitigating evidence; however, as this Court has acknowledged, overreliance on mental mitigation evidence is entirely inappropriate given that it can readily be outweighed by relevant aggravating factors. Orme v. State, 677 So. 2d 258,

263 (Fla. 1996) (citing *Michael v. State*, 437 So. 2d 138, 142 (Fla. 1983)).

Secondarily, Offord makes much of the fact that the trial court found a single aggravator applicable to his sentence determination, and on this basis argues his sentence should presumptively be reduced to life. See Initial Appellate Brief, at p. 26. While it is indeed true that this Court has, on some occasions, reduced a death sentence to life on the basis that only a single aggravator was found, see, e.g, Sinclair v. State, 657 So. 2d 1138 (Fla. 1995); in instances where the sole aggravator found is one of substantial import --i.e., the HAC aggravator -- the imposition of a death sentence has been deemed proportionate. See, e.g., Boyd v. State, 910 So. 2d 167 (Fla. 2005) (holding that Boyd's death sentence was proportionate even though questions were raised about his mental competency and only the HAC aggravator was found); Butler v. State, 842 So. 2d 817 (Fla. 2003) (upholding Butler's death sentence - based exclusively on the HAC aggravator - wherein Butler brutally murdered his ex-girlfriend while his six year old daughter was present in the home); Blackwood v. State, 777 So. 2d 399 (Fla. 2000) (finding Blackwood's death sentence proportional despite the fact that the only applicable aggravator was the HAC);

Cardona v. State, 641 So. 2d 361 (Fla. 1994) (concluding that the HAC aggravator, standing alone, outweighed mitigating evidence given that the victim -- an infant -- suffered a tortuous death).

As this Court has plainly recognized, the HAC aggravator is amongst "'the most serious aggravators set out in the statutory sentencing scheme.'" Dessaure v. State, 891 So. 2d 455, 473 (Fla. 2004) (quoting Larkins v. State, 739 So. 2d 90, 95 (Fla. 1999)). Accordingly, the fact that the trial court found one aggravating factor is not the sine qua non as to the propriety of Offord's death sentence; and, as discussed below, this Court's proportionality review entails a more nuanced analysis than Offord appears willing to acknowledge.

Florida case law supports the trial court's determination

To reiterate, this Court has never articulated the proposition, as Offord suggests, that in circumstances where a defendant suffers from a mental illness and/or has spent most of his life institutionalized, he must invariably have his death sentence commuted to life. See, e.g., Rhodes v. State, 638 So. 2d 920, 927 (Fla. 1994) (noting that although Rhodes -- who spent the majority of his life in either mental hospitals and

prisons -- had established "substantial mental mitigation," his death sentence was proportionate); Wickham v. State, 593 So. 2d 191, 195 (Fla. 1991) (Barkett, J. dissenting) (criticizing the majority for affirming the death sentence of a capital felon who although forty years old when he committed the murder, had only spent "two or three years outside of institutions since he was ten years old"); see also Johnston v. State, 863 So. 2d 271 (Fla. 2003) (upholding death sentence despite Johnston's long history of mental health problems and dissociative disorder); Francis v. State, 808 So. 2d 110 (Fla. 2001) (determining that while Francis had a history of mental issues no showing was made that these problems directly caused him to murder his victims); Evans v. State, 800 So. 2d 182, 196 (Fla. 2001) (affirming the determination of the trial court which found that "although . . . there was substantial evidence that Evans suffers from some sort of mental impairment, that mental impairment did not affect Evans' ability to plan and direct this murder"); Robinson v. State, 761 So. 2d 269 (Fla. 1999); (holding that sentencing Robinson to death -- who had killed his female victim with a claw hammer and had a history of mental and substance abuse issues -- was proportional); Medina v. State, 690 So. 2d 1241, 1251-52 (Fla. 1997) (Anstead, J., concurring in part, dissenting

in part) (acknowledging that Medina - who, it should be noted, was executed slightly more than a month after this case was published - had an extensive history of mental illness, had resided in a Cuban mental asylum, and was diagnosed as a paranoid schizophrenic).

Offord's reasoning is untenable and would certainly make it difficult for the State to ever succeed in capital prosecutions given the prevalence of mental health mitigation in penalty phase proceedings. To the contrary, this Court has observed that it is duty-bound to look to the totality of circumstances in order to assess whether an individual's sentence was proportional. See Urbin v. State, 714 So. 2d 411, 416-17 (Fla. 1998).

Therefore, as this appeal turns solely on the proportionality of Offord's death sentence, it is somewhat necessary to look with exacting detail to those Florida cases which most comport with the facts presented in Offord's case.

(a) Booker v. State, 773 So. 2d 1079 (Fla. 2000)

In Booker v. State, 773 So. 2d 1079 (Fla. 2000), this Court confronted facts very similar to those presented in Offord's case, wherein the imposition of a death sentence was affirmed although the accused had a very long history of mental problems.

Booker was originally sentenced to death in 1978 for the sexual assault and murder of a ninety-four year old victim. Following a series of legal machinations not relevant here, Booker was resentenced and another penalty phase hearing was conducted in 1998. Id. at 1083.

During the penalty phase, evidence was propounded indicating that Booker had a terrible childhood and his schooling was itinerant. Expert medical testimony indicated Booker began abusing drugs and alcohol perhaps as early as thirteen years old, and he was hospitalized for psychiatric evaluation at sixteen. Moreover, while commissioned in the Army, Booker struggled with alcohol, was diagnosed with schizophrenia, and was required to take psychotropic medication to deal with his mental issues.

Following his discharge from the Army he continued to have difficulties. He was briefly hospitalized after seen wielding a knife in the middle of a public street. Moreover, he was later incarcerated in Florida in the early 1970's for an unrelated crime; and during this period of incarceration he experienced hallucinations and was required to take medication to prevent seizures.

A medical expert who testified at Booker's 1998 penalty

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